1981

# Neil Jorgensen v. John Clay and Company, a Corporation, and Aetna Casualty and Surety Company, a Corporation : Brief of Appellants

Utah Supreme Court

STATEMENT OF THE NATURE OF THE CASE

This is an action filed by Plaintiff against Defendant John Clay & Co. alleging a breach of a contract to supply sheep. Plaintiff alleged that he had been damaged in excess of \$160,000 by the failure of defendant John Clay & Co. to perform under a written contract for the purchase of approximately 6,000 sheep. In addition, Plaintiff sought damages against defendant Aetna Casualty & Surety Co. as a surety on a stock purchase bond. Finally, Plaintiff sought attorneys' fees as to both defendants and punitive damages as to defendant John Clay & Co.

DISPOSITION IN THE LOWER COURT

The Complaint of Plaintiff was filed in the Sixth Judicial District Court on July 12, 1979. (R. 1-4). On

September 17, 1979 Defendants filed a Motion for Change of Venue asking the case be transferred from Sanpete County to Weber County, the principal place of business of John Clay & Co. (R. 11). After extensive argument in the district court the Motion for Change of Venue was denied on November 6, 1979. (R. 44).

Thereafter, an Answer was filed by Defendant including a claim that venue had been improperly laid. (R. 39-41). In addition, a Counterclaim was filed against the plaintiff by defendant John Clay & Co. for its loss of commission.

A jury trial was commenced on June 23, 1980 with the Honorable Don V. Tibbs presiding. After five days of trial the jury returned a verdict in favor of the plaintiff in the amount of \$191,463.40 as general damages and \$1.00 as punitive damages. (R. 130). In addition, the jury found in favor of Plaintiff as to Defendant's Counterclaim. A judgment on the verdict was entered by the trial court on July 8, 1980. (Tr. 136-137).

On August 4, 1980 an appeal was filed to this Court from the judgment on the verdict. (R. 139). This Court in Case No. 17228 remitted that appeal to the district court since the appeal was not from a final judgment because the question of interest and attorneys' fees had not yet been resolved. (R. 154).

After remand, the matter of attorneys' fees and interest



was submitted to the trial court as a trier of fact. On January 27, 1981 the lower court entered its Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law and concluded, based upon the jury verdict, that the actions taken by defendant John Clay & Co. were malicious, willful and oppressive and therefore assessed attorneys' fees against Defendant in the sum of \$21,400.00. In addition, the lower court assessed pre-judgment interest of \$14,822.37. (R. 195-200).

Defendants then filed a Notice of Appeal in the instant case from the judgment on the verdict, and from the order of the lower court awarding interest and attorneys' fees. (R. 209).

#### RELIEF SOUGHT ON APPEAL

Defendants seek a reversal of the lower court verdict and judgment and a retrial of this case in Weber County on the basis that venue was improperly laid. In the alternative, Defendants seek a remittur in the amount of the attorneys' fees and pre-judgment interest assessed by the lower court.

#### STATEMENT OF FACTS

The facts in this case are basically undisputed with the exception of several events which transpired concerning alleged interference by the plaintiff of the contractual obligations and the custom of the sheep industry concerning notification of the seller when lambs are to be transported.

Since this Court is obligated to view the evidence most favorably to the jury verdict and to the findings of the trial court Defendants will principally rely upon the evidence of the plaintiff throughout this brief.

The plaintiff Neil Jorgensen testified that he was a resident of Mt. Pleasant, Utah and was engaged in the livestock business of raising and storing lambs. (Tr. 50). He had been doing this for ten years and had been working with the defendant John Clay & Co. for a number of years. (Tr. 53-56).

John Clay & Co. is a Utah corporation with its principal place of business in Ogden, Utah. Its function is to purchase lambs from growers and to resell them to packers with the company receiving a commission for its efforts. (Tr. 694, 696).

Mr. Leon Sparrow was a lamb buyer for defendant John Clay & Co. who had dealt with the plaintiff for over ten years prior to the transactions involved in this litigation. (Tr. 53-54). In November of 1978 the plaintiff and Mr. Sparrow entered into a contract whereby John Clay & Co. would purchase 5,000 lambs at 65 cents per pound at a maximum "weight stop" of 120 pounds. (Exhibit 16). A "weight stop" is a device used in the industry which puts a weight limitation on each lamb so that any excess weight is not paid for by the buyer. (Tr. 63). There was no dispute as to

this first contract except as to whether 274 lambs subsequently purchased were properly included under the terms of this contract or should have been included under the terms of the subsequent 10,000 sheep contract.

The 10,000 sheep contract was entered into between the parties John Clay & Co. and Plaintiff on December 13, 1978. (Defendant's Exhibit 1; Plaintiff's Exhibit 1). This agreement, also in writing, called for an additional 10,000 lambs to be purchased by John Clay & Co. at 70 cents per pound with no weight stop limitation.

Since this contract will be discussed in detail during the Argument portion of this brief further elaboration as to the details is unnecessary at this point except for the fact that the sheep designated in that contract were pastured in Blythe, California. (Tr. 67).

At the end of December in 1978 the plaintiff called Leon Sparrow and informed him that because of severe weather conditions in Blythe, California causing an inadequacy of feed, it was necessary for him to move the majority of his herd if they were to survive. (Tr. 71, 306). Sparrow said he would see if he could find a place to move the lambs until they were ready for delivery under the contract. (Tr. 307).

Subsequently, Sparrow called the plaintiff and informed him that a feed yard in Ault, Colorado could accomodate

Plaintiff's herd. (Tr. 71). The parties agreed to transport the sheep to the Marvin Weber feed yard in Ault, Colorado with John Clay & Co. paying the additional freight at the time of final delivery. (Tr. 73). This location was particularly convenient since defendant John Clay & Co. had resold the 10,000 lambs to a packer known as Monfort of Colorado which had its packing plant within six miles of the feed yard location. (Exhibit 17; Tr. 72).

During January of 1979 the plaintiff made arrangements for the transportation of the 10,000 lambs to the Weber feed yard. Simultaneously, he was shipping lambs pursuant to the 65 cent contract from a Cedar City herd and from the Blythe, California herd as to those lambs which were ready for slaughter. (Tr. 76-77).

On or about February 10 the plaintiff received a call from Sparrow informing him that approximately 2,400 lambs had been shipped out on February 5, 6 and 7 to the Monfort Packing Plant and giving Plaintiff various weights and dollar figures. (Tr. 77, 321-323). It was undisputed by the parties that the plaintiff became very upset upon learning about this shipment and told Sparrow that the plaintiff should have been notified as to the shipment date which was customary in the industry so that he could be there if he desired. (Tr. 324).

A dispute developed in the testimony of the witnesses

as to whether Plaintiff had agreed that the packer Monfort could take the sheep at its discretion without notification to the plaintiff or whether the customary notification had to be made. Sparrow stated that he reminded the plaintiff of the prior agreement upon receiving the phone call but that Plaintiff kept insisting that he was entitled to notification. (Tr. 324). Plaintiff, on the other hand, denied that there was ever any agreement that he would not be notified when the lambs were to be taken. (Tr. 68).

In any case, it was undisputed that Sparrow agreed to notify the plaintiff as to the dates of the next shipment. (Tr. 324). The plaintiff also called Weber, the feed lot operator, and told him that the plaintiff would notify Weber when the lambs were to be shipped. (Tr. 83). The plaintiff also stated that he called Wadlington, the lamb buyer for the packer Monfort, and told him not to ship the lambs without the plaintiff being present. (Tr. 83).

Mr. Weber testified that during that same conversation Plaintiff told Weber not to ship the lambs out since he did not feel they weighed enough until the week of February 20th. (Tr. 426). Wadlington testified that he received a call from Plaintiff to the same effect that Plaintiff should have been notified before shipment and that he did not want any more lambs of his taken out before February 20th. (Tr. 591). Plaintiff denied telling either Weber or Wadlington

not to ship the lambs out until February 20th and stated that he only asked that he be advised as to when the shipments were to be made. (Tr. 757).

On the 13th of February the plaintiff made a personal trip to Colorado with his family to check on the sheep. As they were driving by the Monfort Packing Plant the plaintiff recognized Wadlington and pulled over and talked to him. The plaintiff testified that Wadlington apologized for not notifying the witness about the shipment of lambs and said he would make sure that the plaintiff would be notified in the future. The plaintiff then went to the Weber feeding lot in Ault, Colorado and saw that the lambs were in good condition. (Tr. 86-88).

On February 21 the plaintiff received a call from Sparrow informing him that the lambs had been taken to the packing plant for the past several days. Sparrow told the plaintiff that 695 lambs had been shipped during the preceding days. Again, the plaintiff proclaimed that he should have been notified about the prior shipments and told Sparrow that it was a poor way to run a business in not notifying the seller. (Tr. 89). Sparrow testified that he did not apologize on this occasion for not notifying the plaintiff since the plaintiff had set his own shipping date and that it was his own fault for not being there because the plaintiff knew the lambs were going out the week of the 20th. (Tr. 326-327).

Immediately after talking to Sparrow the plaintiff called Weber, the feed lot operator, who informed the plaintiff that according to his records 1,096 sheep had been shipped out. (Tr. 89). Plaintiff then called Wadlington who confirmed the 695 figure. (Tr. 90).

The witness called Weber and told him not to ship out any more sheep until the plaintiff arrived at the feed yard the next morning. He immediately made a reservation to fly to Greeley, Colorado. (Tr. 90). On the following morning, however, because of a blizzard, the plaintiff was unable to catch the plane and called Weber and told him to ship the lambs even without the plaintiff being present. (Tr. 91, 133).

Shortly thereafter, the plaintiff called the Monfort Packing Plant and requested the number and weight of the sheep shipped during the week of February 20. The secretary who answered the phone told him that 1,096 sheep had been sent but told him that she could not give him the weights of the lambs. The plaintiff told her that he would contact the government agency supervising packer houses to obtain the information if necessary. (Tr. 94-96).

It is uncontroverted that after the shipment of lambs during the week of February 20 no further lambs were removed from the Weber feeding yard pursuant to the 10,000 lamb contract. Plaintiff testified that on March 3 he received

a call from Sparrow that Defendant could no longer accept the lambs which were remaining at the feed yard. Sparrow told the witness that the packer, Monfort, had refused to accept any more lambs because of the interference in the shipping dates caused by the plaintiff. (Tr. 100,391). Plaintiff immediately contacted his attorney, Clark Nielsen, and a letter was sent to defendant John Clay & Co. warning that it would be held accountable for any failure to perform under the contract. (Plaintiff's Exhibit 6).

Sparrow suggested that he and the plaintiff go to Colorado and meet with the Monfort people to see if the matter could be resolved. Accordingly, the plaintiff and his son met Sparrow and drove to the Monfort Packing Plant. When they arrived Bob Quam, the vice president in charge of lamb procurement for Monfort, was not present. They left and returned the following day. (Tr. 101-102).

At that time Quam stated that there had been too much interference in the shipment of the lambs and that the company could not afford to continue under the present agreement. He said a new deal would have to be made among the parties. (Tr. 332). Quam also told the plaintiff that any deal was with John Clay & Co. as far as Monfort was concerned and not with the plaintiff. (Tr. 103). Sparrow and the plaintiff left the meeting with no deal having been worked out.



The next day Raymond Williams, a co-owner of defendant John Clay & Co., and Frank Rynders, the manager and secretary-treasurer of the defendant, arrived in Colorado to assist in working out the problem. Upon arrival, a meeting was held at which time it was decided that Williams and Rynders should go to the Monfort Packing Plant to see what could be resolved. (Tr. 715).

Williams returned from the plant and said that Monfort was willing to purchase the lambs at 60 cents per pound with a 120 pound weight stop since the lambs were now heavier than commercially desirable. (Tr. 106, 757). The witness said that he would not accept this price since had had a contract with John Clay & Co. and was entitled to receive 70 cents with no weight limitation. (Tr. 107).

Subsequently, Mr. Rynders telephoned the plaintiff when he returned home and said that Monfort would agree to pay 63 cents and John Clay would pay 3 more cents making a total of 66 cents with a 120 pound stop. (Tr. 107, 757). No mention as to a release was made at that time. (Tr. 107).

Plaintiff stated that he told Williams and Rynders that if they wanted to honor their contract they would have to call the next morning or otherwise he would sell his sheep to R. H. Rock Co. (Tr. 108). When he did not receive a call from the defendant he entered into a deal with Rock Co. to sell the remaining 6,283 sheep. Plaintiff claimed

that as a result of that sale and the failure of Defendant to proceed with its contract he suffered a loss of \$166,566.81 (Plaintiff's Exhibit 10). Plaintiff admitted, however, that had he taken the offer made by defendant Clay & Co. he would have received substantially more money. (Tr. 140-142).

The above statement of facts is a synopsis of the testimony during the five-day trial. Additional issues were raised at the trial concerning the accuracy of the various records, the method of shipping the sheep, the custom and practice of notifying the seller when shipment is to be made, and other issues not germane to the present appeal. In addition, Defendants offered evidence that the interference by Plaintiff in the shipment dates of the sheep impaired the ability of Monfort to schedule its daily kill and allowed the sheep to become too heavy for commercial acceptance.

The matter was submitted to the jury which obviously concluded that Plaintiff had not interfered with the performance of the contract and held John Clay & Co. liable for the difference in the price obtained for the remaining lambs, for the cost of freight to the Colorado area, and for the difference in price as to 274 sheep between 65 cents a pound and 70 cents a pound. The jury returned a verdict of general damages for \$191,463.40. (Tr. 130). In addition, the jury returned a verdict of \$1.00 against Defendant for punitive damages. It was agreed that defendant Aetna Casualty

& Surety Co. was liable up to the extent of its \$75,000.00 bond in the event that liability was assessed against John Clay & Co.

After the jury verdict was returned and after remand from this Court, Judge Tibbs heard argument as to whether attorneys' fees should be assessed against the defendants and whether pre-judgment interest should also be assessed. The lower court entered its own Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law and awarded an additional \$21,400.00 in attorneys' fees and \$14,822.37 in pre-judgment interest. (R. 216-220).

It is from the jury verdict and the lower court judgment that this appeal is now taken.

#### ARGUMENT

#### POINT I

THE TRIAL COURT COMMITTED PREJUDICIAL ERROR  
IN REFUSING TO CHANGE VENUE AND TRIAL TO  
WEBER COUNTY.

The Complaint in this matter was filed on July 12, 1979 in the Sixth Judicial District Court of Sanpete County. The Complaint alleged that Plaintiff was a resident of Sanpete County and that defendant John Clay & Co. was a corporation organized under the laws of the State of Utah with its principal place of business in Ogden, Utah. (R. 1).

On September 17, 1979 defendant John Clay & Co. moved for a change of venue based upon the affidavit of Lewis E.

Harper and upon the attached agreement which was the basis of Plaintiff's Complaint. (R. 11-14). No other responsive pleading had been filed prior to the Motion for Change of Venue. The parties argued this question extensively in the lower court and on November 6, 1979 the Honorable Don V. Tibbs entered an order denying Defendant's motion. Subsequently, an Answer was filed on behalf of defendant John Clark & Co. also raising the question of improper venue. (R. 40).

The venue laws of Utah have remained substantially unchanged since Utah became a territory in the late 1800's. This Court has recognized that the failure to transfer venue when the facts are clear and when properly demanded is a substantial right and that it is reversible error to deny such a transfer. Buckle v. Ogden Furniture & Carpet Co., 216 P.2d 684, 686 (Utah 1923).

The laws of Utah regarding venue are divided into two distinct classes. First, those cases mandating transfer under specific conditions and, second, those cases in which the discretion of the court is invoked. In the first class of case a court must transfer venue in certain actions respecting real property, in actions involving public officers in actions against a county, in actions on written contract and in certain transitory causes of action. See §§78-13-1, U.C.A. through 78-13-6, U.C.A.

The second class of venue statute involves discretion

in cases where the court believes that an impartial trial cannot be had, where a change is required because of the convenience of witnesses and the ends of justice, or where all parties stipulate such a change should be made. §78-13-9, U.C.A. In such cases a great deal of discretion is left to the trial court. Mooney v. Denver & Rio Grande Railway Co., 221 P.2d 628 (Utah 1949).

In the instant case defendant John Clay & Co. moved to transfer venue to Weber County, its principal place of business, on the basis of the mandatory provisions of §78-13-4, U.C.A. and §78-13-7, U.C.A. These sections state the following:

78-13-4. Actions on Written Contracts. When the defendant has contracted in writing to perform an obligation in a particular county of the state and resides in another county, an action on such contract obligation may be commenced in the county where such obligation is to be performed or in which the defendant resides.

78-13-7. All Other Actions. In all other cases the action must be tried in the county in which the cause of action arises, or in the county in which any defendant resides at the commencement of the action; provided, that if any such defendant is a corporation, any county in which such corporation has its principal office or place of business shall be deemed the county in which such corporation resides within the meaning of this Section.

This Court in a series of decisions beginning in 1923 has interpreted these sections in such a manner that there can be no doubt that venue in this case was improperly laid.

The foundational case concerning this type of venue

problem is Buckle v. Ogden Furniture & Carpet Co., 216 P.2d 684 (Utah 1923). In that case the plaintiff, a resident of Salt Lake County, brought an action against a resident of Weber County for collection of a debt on an oral contract. After a trial had been held in Salt Lake County and a verdict rendered in favor of the plaintiff the defendant appealed.

This Court interpreted the predecessor of the two above stated sections and concluded that for §78-13-4 (then §6528) to be applicable there must be a written contract in effect. If there is no written contract then §78-13-7 (then §6531) is applicable. The court noted that in such cases it is mandatory to try the action at the residence of the defendant since the words "where the cause of action arises" are referrable "to cases not on contracts, because the venue on actions on contracts, in respect of where they arise, is disposed of by §6528, as above interpreted." Id. at 686.

This Court stated the policy reasons behind the venue statutes and why they must be narrowly construed in favor of bringing an action at the residence of the defendant. This Court stated:

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