1981

Neil Jorgensen v. John Clay and Company, a Corporation, and Aetna Casualty and Surety Company, a Corporation : Brief of Plaintiff-Respondent

Utah Supreme Court

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

Summary of Argument

1. Venue is proper in Sanpete County, Utah.

The trial court correctly determined that venue was properly laid in Sanpete County, the county of Plaintiff's residence. Under Section 78-13-6, U.C.A. (1953), where a "transitory" cause of action has arisen outside of the state, the plaintiff resident may bring the action in his own county. Defendant breached the contract by taking the lambs without notice and later refusing delivery of the lambs in Ault, Colorado. Even if the provisions of Section 78-13-6 are applied, the rules, custom and trade in the livestock industry, as well as prior dealings between the parties, regarding payment of the purchase price necessarily implies that Sanpete County is the place of performance in Utah.

2. Punitive Damages and Attorneys' Fees Against Defendant John Clay For Its Malicious and Willful Breach of Contract Were Proper.

Punitive damages and attorneys' fees may properly be recovered for the malicious, willful and oppressive breach of contract by the Defendant. The jury necessarily found that John Clay's breach was willful and malicious. The trial court also so found. There is substantial evidence in support of these findings. Justice and equity require that the Defendant

bear the consequence of its conduct outrageously contrary to accepted custom, practice and regulation and demonstrating a callous indifference to its obligations and Plaintiff's rights under the contract.

3. Plaintiff was properly awarded prejudgment interest.

Prejudgment interest is proper when a plaintiff's damages are "liquidated" or, in other words, fixed and capable of calculation as of a certain date. Plaintiff was properly awarded such interest from March 24, 1979, to the date of judgment. On March 24, Plaintiff's damages were fixed and capable of calculation by subtracting from the amount received upon resale the amount he would have received at 70¢ per pound.

The verdict and judgments of the lower court should be affirmed.

ARGUMENT

POINT I

VENUE IS PROPER IN SANPETE COUNTY AND THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ERR IN DENYING DEFENDANTS' MOTION FOR CHANGE OF VENUE.

Appellants argue that the trial court erred in failing to grant Defendants' Motion for change of venue to transfer this case to Weber County. Appellants claim this case is necessarily controlled by Sections 78-13-4 and 78-13-7, U.C.A. (1953), and cite various cases where these sections have been applied by this Court. But in asserting that these cases should have controlled the lower court, Appellants ignore both the facts of this case and other statutes regarding proper venue.

The trial court did not err in determining venue is proper in Sanpete County. Notwithstanding Defendants' claim to a general right to have an action tried in the county of their "residence," "actions may be tried elsewhere when so provided by statute." Walker Bank and Trust Co. v. Walker, 631 P.2d 860 (Utah, 1981).

Initially, it should be noted that while Defendant Clay claims its "principal and only place of business" is in Ogden, Weber County (R. 12), none of the contacts or transactions between the parties ever occurred in Weber County. Defendant Aetna Casualty and Surety Company, John Clay's bonding Company, is also a foreign corporation, transacting business in this state. (R.1)

John Clay's business with Plaintiff took place either outside of the State of Utah or in Sanpete County. (Tr. 293, 297, 313, 320, 323, 328, 330-33, 337, 100-106, 178, 694; Aff., R. 24-25; Exh. 12A) During the sheep season, Mr. Sparrow lived in and worked out of Yuma, Arizona. (Tr. 313, 323; Exh. 12A) Mr. Rink Williams also resides in and works out of Arizona. (Tr. 694)

Mr. Sparrow contacted the Plaintiff in Mount Pleasant, Sanpete County, offering to purchase Plaintiff's lambs on feed in Blythe, California. Sparrow's written contracts were entered into in Mount Pleasant, Sanpete County. (Tr. 60, 287; Aff., R. 24, 25) Other lambs owned by Plaintiff were purchased by and delivered to Defendant in Blythe, California, and in Sanpete County. (Tr. 292, 296-97)

The 10,000 lamb contract (App. D) specifically provides that the sheep are on pasture at Blythe, California, to be sorted and loaded there--"delivery to be f.o.b. truck" at which time they were to be paid for. (App. D; R. 25) These lambs were later transported from Blythe, California, to Ault, Colorado, pursuant to the parties' oral agreement. (Tr. 352)

While in Ault, Colorado, John Clay and Monfort repeatedly removed the lambs from the feedlot without any notice to Mr. Jorgensen and improperly weighed the lambs loaded on the trucks. (Tr. 556, 682) Leon Sparrow called Jorgensen from Yuma, Arizona, on each occasion to "apologize" for the failure to notify him. (Tr. 374-75, 380) When the Plaintiff objected

to this procedure, Clay repudiated its contract by refusing delivery of the lambs f.o.b. truck at the Ault feedlot. (Tr. 391-92) Plaintiff's conversations and meetings with Sparrow and Williams of John Clay and with Monfort took place either personally in California and Colorado or by telephone between Mount Pleasant, Arizona, Colorado and California. (Tr. 101-108) All payments by John Clay to Jorgensen in this and other contracts were made by Sparrow either in California at the time and place of delivery or by mail from Arizona to the Plaintiff's home in Sanpete County. (Exh. 12A; R. 25) Nothing relative to this contract ever transpired in Ogden, Utah. (Tr. 70, 313, 318, 694-95)

Under Section 78-13-6, U.C.A. (1953), this action was properly brought by Plaintiff in the county of his residence. Section 78-13-6 provides:

All transitory causes of action arising without this state in favor of residents of this state shall, if action is brought thereon in this state, be brought and tried in the county where the plaintiff resides, or in the county where the principal defendant resides, or if the principal defendant is a corporation, then in the county where the plaintiff resides or in the county where such corporation has an office or place of business, subject, however, to a change of venue as provided by law.

If the cause of action is transitory, has arisen outside of the state and Plaintiff is a resident, then venue is proper in Sanpete County, the county of Plaintiff's residence.

It is clear that the instant case is a "transitory action." Allen v. Allen, 47 Utah 145, 151 Pac. 982 (1915). Calder v. Third Judicial District Court, 2 Utah 2d 309, 273

P.2d 168, 171 (1954). In Steed v. Harvey, 18 Utah 367, 54 Pac. 1011 (1898), the Utah court held that an action to recover damages for breach of contract for the failure to deliver cattle in Wyoming was a transitory action.

It cannot be disputed that Plaintiff's action arose in Colorado first when Defendant John Clay (with Monfort Company) took 3517 lambs without any notice to Plaintiff; and later when requested in Colorado by Plaintiff to honor the contract, Defendant Clay refused to take or accept further deliveries, repudiating its obligations under the contract. (Tr. 121, 105-6, 391-92, 251, 254-55, 717) Even Defendant's counterclaim that Plaintiff "delayed" delivery in Ault, Colorado, not in Utah. (Appt. Brief, p. 23) This action certainly cannot be claimed to have "arisen" in Utah, and venue is controlled by Section 78-13-6 U.C.A. (1953, as amended). Dee v. San Pedro, L.A. & S.L.R. Co., 50 Utah 167, 167 Pac. 246 (1917); Seedling Inc. v. King, 378 So.2d (Fla. App., 1979); Briggs Transportation Co. v. Ranzenberger, 299 Minn. 127, 217 NW2d 198 (1974); State v. Circuit Court, 221 Or. 309, 351 P.2d 39 (1960); 77 Am. Jur. 2d, Venue, Section 37, p. 882.

Plaintiff was entitled to bring this action in the county of his residence. The trial court should liberally construe the Complaint and supporting material in favor of the pleader. In fact, the allegations of Plaintiff's Complaint and supporting Affidavit were not disputed by the Defendants for purposes of Defendants' Motion to change venue. (Compl. R. 2,

3; Aff., R. 24-26) Even so, the determination of disputed matters for the purpose of ruling on proper venue is within the sound discretion of the trial court. Deimler v. Ostler, 600 P.2d 814, 815 (Mont., 1979); Tribolet v. Fowler, 77 Ariz. 59, 266 P.2d 1088 (1954); 77 Am. Jur. 2d, supra at 930.

In Dee v. San Pedro, L.A. & S.L.R. Co., 50 Utah 167, 167 Pac. 246 (1917), this Court interpreted the identical predecessor section to Section 78-13-6, U.C.A. (1953), and held that the action was properly brought in the county of the plaintiff's residence, even though the plaintiff was only an assignee of the claim. That claim arose from damage to livestock being transported by the defendant railroad from Salt Lake City to Los Angeles. Plaintiff Dee, an assignee of the livestock owner, Sheffor, brought the action in Weber County for the injuries to horses while in transit in Nevada and California. The railroad claimed that the proper counties for venue were either the residence of the livestock owner (Cache County) or the "principal place" of defendant's business (Salt Lake County). Not only did the court indicate that these places of venue were proper under then Section 2931X1, Comp. Laws Utah (1907), the court also held that venue was proper in Weber County, the county of the plaintiff-assignee's residence, pursuant to the provisions of the statute.

In discussing the effect of an assignment to the plaintiff on the issue of proper venue, the court, in Dee, stated that if a motion for change of venue is "based upon the ground that the

action is brought in the wrong county, it should negative the facts under which such county would be the proper one." (157 Pac. at 249) In the instant case, as in Dee, the Defendants did not "negative" or deny any specific facts alleged in Plaintiff's Complaint or his Affidavit supporting venue--e.g., Plaintiff is a resident of Sanpete County (R. 1); the parties entered into their contracts in Sanpete County; the lambs were to be delivered f.o.b. truck in Ault, Colorado; in Ault, John Clay repudiated the contract and refused to take delivery of the lambs (R. 2, 25); and payment was to be made to Plaintiff in Sanpete County (R. 25). Defendants' response by Affidavit was only that John Clay is a Utah corporation with its "principal and only place of business in Ogden, Weber County, Utah," attaching a copy of the 10,000 lamb contract. (R. 13, 14) The Defendants' Affidavit was not sufficient to entitle them to have venue transferred to Weber County as a matter of right. It added nothing different than already stated in Plaintiff's Complaint. 77 Am. Jur. 2d, Venue, Section 82, p. 930.

Affirming the statutory right of Plaintiff to bring this action in the county of his residence does not violate any policy to avoid undue expense, inconvenience or disadvantage to Defendants. Although some pretrial discovery was conducted in Salt Lake City for the convenience of both parties, the bulk of discovery took place in Colorado. At trial, Defendants did not incur any significant additional expense by bringing its

various trial witnesses from Colorado to Sanpete County than had the trial been held in Weber County. Moreover, Defendant's officer, Rink Williams, presumably traveled to the trial from his Phoenix residence--a shorter distance to Manti than to Ogden.

Respondent submits that the evidence of Defendant's breach, malicious and with flagrant, reckless disregard for Plaintiff's rights, is so clear and unequivocal in the trial record that the jury's verdict cannot be considered "manifestly unjust." There is absolutely no reason to suppose that the Sanpete County jury was unfairly impassioned or prejudiced for or against either party. Respondent further believes that the legislature was fully aware that the inconvenience and disadvantage in litigating disputes arising in foreign states is just as great for a resident plaintiff as for a resident defendant. The policy to protect a party litigant from undue inconvenience and disadvantage is the same whether plaintiff or defendant.

In this case, virtually all of the transactions between the parties, including Defendant's repeated breach, occurred outside of the State of Utah. Plaintiff's cause of action arose outside of Utah. Venue, under Section 78-14-6, is therefore proper in Sanpete County. None of the cases cited by Appellants involves such facts similar to this case. Certain of these cases even involved oral and not written contracts--i.e., Buckle v. Ogden Furniture & Carpet Co., 61

Utah 559, 216 Pac. 684 (1923); Olympia Sales Co. v. Long, 604 P.2d 919 (Utah, 1979).

Even assuming, arguendo, that the provisions of Section 78-13-4, U.C.A. (1953), should be applied to the agreement between the parties, venue is still proper in Sanpete County. This section applies to written contracts where the place of obligation is stated or appears by "necessary implication." Palfreyman v. Trueman, 105 Utah 463, 142 P.2d 677 (1943). As noted, the contract expressly provides that Defendant is to perform by taking delivery of the livestock at the time they are loaded on the trucks, f.o.b. at Blythe, California (and later, Ault, Colorado).

Further, payment for the delivered animals must be made at that time, either at the place of delivery or Plaintiff's residence in Sanpete County. "Balance of purchase price shall be paid when livestock are loaded on cars." (App. D) All payments made were made in that manner. (R. 25; Exh. 12A) Plaintiff's Affidavit states that "it was the intent of the parties . . . that the livestock purchased by John Clay and Company would be paid for by mailing or delivering the purchase price to Affiant in Sanpete County, Utah." (R. 25) There is no evidence to the contrary. Plaintiff's undisputed Affidavit was properly considered by the trial court to support the "necessary implication" that Plaintiff's residence in Sanpete County was the place of payment in Utah. Deimler v. Ostler, supra, at 815. Any question of interpretation arising from the

language of the written contract (prepared by Sparrow) is properly resolved in favor of Respondent and against Appellants.

Under the Federal Packers and Stockyards Act, 1921, as amended (7 U.S.C., Section 181, et seq.), a "market agency" or "dealer" (e.g., John Clay and Company) shall, upon delivery of the livestock, deliver to the livestock seller the net proceeds of the purchase price, with a full accounting, before the end of the next business day. (Tr. 370, 645) It requires that if the seller is not present to receive the check at the time of delivery of the sheep, the payment must be timely mailed first class, postage prepaid, and properly addressed to the seller. 7 U.S.C., Section 228b; Regs. of Sec. of Agriculture, Packers & Stockyards Act, 9 CFR, Section 201.43. (Pertinent parts of the regulations are attached as Appendix E.)

As provided in Atlas Acceptance Corporation v. Pratt, 85 Utah 352, 39 P.2d 710, 714 (1935), a "necessary implication" does not require the court to "shut out every other possible or imaginary conclusion," but rather to take what would be a "reasonable view," the contrary of which would be improbable. 39 P.2d at 714. This is not a case where the court has to guess where or how the parties intended that Clay should perform its contract. There can be "no room to doubt" that the law and the contract required and the parties intended that if payment for the sheep was not made to Plaintiff at the time and place of delivery in California or Colorado, payment would be made by mailing to Plaintiff's residence in Sanpete County.

Even under the provisions of Section 78-13-4 U.C.A. (1953, as amended), venue was proper in Sanpete County. Itel-Pas Inc. v. Jones, 389 So.2d 1085 (Fla. App., 1980); State v. Circuit Court, 221 Or. 309, 351 P.2d 39 (1960). Such a determination by the trial court was proper and reasonable.

If initially an action is brought in the proper county, it does not lie within the prerogative of the defendant or trial court to transfer it to another county merely because venue might also have been proper there. Walker Bank & Trust Co. v. Walker, supra, at 861; Tribolet v. Fowler, 77 Ariz. 59, 266 P.2d 1088 (1954); Deimler v. Ostler, 600 P.2d 814, 815 (Mont., 1979)

Although this action might have been properly brought in Weber County, Plaintiff chose a county equally, if not more, proper. Defendants did not have an "absolute right" to have the action transferred to Weber County when Sanpete County was proper.

The laws regarding venue are not intended to permit a defendant to conduct business dealings and incur extensive obligations in other states and counties only to run back to its office to claim the exclusive venue of Weber County when it has repudiated those obligations. Appellants' complaint that they must have been prejudiced because a jury in Weber County might have found differently is self-serving and arises only because of the outcome of the jury's deliberation. It is not supported by the facts or record herein.

Moreover, Appellants waived whatever right they claimed when they requested (and received) an extension of time "to answer" Plaintiff's Complaint. (R. 23) Nello L. Teer Co. v. Hitchcock Corporation, 235 N.C. 741, 71 S.E.2d 54 (1952).

Defendants' Motion for change of venue was properly denied by the trial court.

POINT II

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